



Université de Lausanne

Faculté de biologie et de médecine

Ecole de médecine

Master Thesis

The effect of Imp-2 on Ewing sarcoma cancer stem cells: when epigenetics orchestrate tumor growth

Presented by

Arnaud BAKARIC

09.11.2015

Co-tutor Tutor Expert Dr Sandrine CORNAZ-BUROS Pr Ivan STAMENKOVIC Pr Pedro ROMERO

Acknowledgments

Je remercie le Pr Pedro Romero d'avoir accepté de participer au jury de la présentation de ce travail en tant qu'expert.

Je remercie le Pr Ivan Stamenkovic de m'avoir encouragé à faire mon travail de master en recherche fondamentale ainsi que pour tous ses conseils concernant ma formation médicale future.

J'adresse également mes sincères remerciements à Sandrine Cornaz-Buros pour sa disponibilité, ses nombreux conseils et sa patience.

J'ai beaucoup apprécié ta supervision, je reste convaincu que ce que tu m'as enseigné tout au long de ce travail sera d'une grande aide pour tous mes projets à venir.

I also thank all the lab team for the help during this work. Je souhaite adresser mes remerciements à Marie-Aude Le Bitoux pour m'avoir fait découvrir le monde fascinant mais déroutant de la recherche scientifique. Je tiens spécialement à remercier Nils Degrauwe pour ses précieux conseils concernant le Sea Horse et nos discussions scientifiques avec Cynthia Dayer autour d'une table de billard.

Un grand merci aux patients qui acceptent de participer aux études scientifiques pour le bien commun et ce malgré l'épreuve accablante de la maladie.

Merci à mes amis pour leur précieux soutien. Marcone et Loïc, merci pour ces années de colocation et pour chaque instant d'amitié partagé et à venir. Coco, Sandy et Davide j'espère sincèrement vous revoir régulièrement une fois nos études terminées afin d'entretenir cette belle amitié.

Les meilleurs pour la fin... Ozren et Catherine, je vous cite naturellement par vos prénoms comme depuis tout petit afin de vous remercier pour l'environnement familial exemplaire que vous avez su créer autour de moi et pour votre soutien en toute circonstance. Je vous en serai éternellement reconnaissant !

Andrea et mes chers neveux Valerio et Dario, vous faites entièrement partie de cet environnement familial proche tant important à mes yeux.

Je remercie également ma famille, Billod et Bakaric, pour tous ces instants partagés depuis mon enfance.

Giulia, d'abord collègue puis partenaire au billard, tu fais désormais partie de ma vie en me soutenant tous les jours et en partageant mes joies et mes craintes. Tu me pousses à réfléchir et à rester curieux en toute circonstance représentant ainsi une réelle source d'inspiration. Merci pour cet amour partagé au quotidien.

Contents

INTRODUCTION	4
EWING'S SARCOMA FAMILY TUMORS	4
THE CANCER STEM CELL MODEL	5
THE CANCER STEM CELL MODEL IN EWING SARCOMA	6
EPIGENETICS AND EWING SARCOMA	6
MATERIAL AND METHODS	10
Cell culture	10
TREATMENTS OF CELLS	10
IMP2 KNOCKDOWN AND RETROVIRAL INFECTION	10
RNA ACQUISITION, REAL-TIME PCR AND WESTERN BLOT	11
CHIP-SEQ	11
PROLIFERATION ASSAY	12
Mouse treatment and tumor measurement	12
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	12
RESULTS	13
CHROMATIN ASSOCIATED WITH THE IMP-2 GENE SHOWS A DIFFERENTIAL PERMISSIVE TRANSCRIPTION	N
PATTERN WITH EWS-FLI1 BINDING SITES AND ACTIVATING HISTONE MARKS IN ESFT CSCS THAT AR	E
ABSENT IN DIFFERENTIATED BULK TUMOR CELLS	13
IMP-2 IS HIGHLY EXPRESSED IN EWING SARCOMA CSCS	14
IMP-2 PLAYS A ROLE IN CELL PROLIFERATION IN EWING SARCOMA	15
DEPLETION OF IMP-2 IMPAIRS TUMOR GROWTH IN VIVO	
Ewing sarcoma CSCs and bulk tumor cells might follow different metabolic pathways	
DISCUSSION	20
REFERENCES	

Introduction

Ewing's sarcoma family tumors

Ewing sarcoma is part of the Ewing's sarcoma family tumors (ESFTs) that includes peripheral primitive neuroectodermal tumor (PNET), extraosseous ewing sarcoma, Askin's tumor and atypical Ewing sarcoma. These tumors share histological and immunohistochemical similarities and display a single chromosomal translocation. ESFT is the second most frequent malignant bone tumor, after osteosarcoma, of adolescents and young adults. ESFTs are very aggressive and often relapse after treatment.

Ewing sarcoma, on which this work will focus, occurs predominantly in the femur, the pelvis and less commonly in the upper extremities, axial skeleton, ribs and face with a peak incidence between 10 and 15 years of age. The histology of these tumors reflects poor differentiation and presents as small round cells with a halo of cytoplasm around the nucleus. They are therefore often referred to as small round blue cell tumors. Immunohistochemical analysis of ESFT reveals expression of the lymphoid cell adhesion receptor CD99, neural markers including NSE, S-100, synaptophysin and CD56 and mesenchymal markers including vimentin. Macroscopically, Ewing sarcoma is greywhite with zones of necrosis and fibrosis. It is associated with a survival rate of 65% at 5 years if treated with current multimodal therapy, which includes surgery, chemotherapy and radiation. However, Ewing sarcoma often displays multidrug resistance, which explains the frequent relapse.

The underlying event in Ewing sarcoma pathogenesis is the non-random balanced chromosomal translocation between chromosome 11 and chromosome 22, t(11q23;22q12). It causes fusion between EWS gene on chromosome 22q12 and an ETS family gene on chromosome 11q24 (FLI gene in 85% of cases or ERG, ETV1, ETV2, FEV) (1). This translocation plays an essential role in the development and the maintenance of ESFT (2) and it is also used for diagnosis by FISH and RT-PCR.

The fusion gene formed encodes an aberrant transcription factor, which drives the expression or repression of genes implicated in regulation of cell proliferation and transformation by binding to their promoters and thus playing a crucial role in Ewing sarcoma pathogenesis.

The cancer stem cell model

Tumors are heterogeneous, which allows rapid adaptation and favors survival in a changing environment. One major source of tumor heterogeneity is believed to reside in cancer stem cells (CSCs) in addition to genetic mutations, epigenetic changes and influences of the tumor microenvironment (3).

Ewing sarcoma appears to follow the CSC model (4). This model assumes that a tumor is organised in a cellular hierarchy with populations of cells (CSCs) that show self-renewal capacity and that can generate populations of more differentiated cells with reduced proliferative and tumor initiating ability (tumor bulk) (5). In tumors following this model the CSCs are responsible for tumor initiation and resistance to therapy because of their reduced sensitivity to current treatment and their capacity to develop resistance mechanisms (5). It has been observed that CSCs of various types of cancer could survive chemotherapy and create *de novo* growth *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *In vivo*, an enrichment in CD133+ cells (associated with CSC functions in diverse cancer types) has been observed after treatment of xenotransplanted colorectal cancer cells with chemotherapy (6). CSCs have shown to use various mechanisms of resistance including overexpression of anti-apoptotic proteins and drug efflux pumps. They also display a low proliferation rate compared to the rest of the tumor bulk that preserves them from chemotherapy which targets the most rapidly proliferating cells (6).

Considering these observations, the cancer stem cell model predicts that cure of a cancer should only be possible if all the CSCs in the tumor are killed or induced to lose their pluripotency.

CSCs have the capacity to form spheres in non-adherent serum-free conditions *in vitro* and these cells can regenerate a tumor which is a phenocopy of the primary tumor after xenotransplantation into immunocompromised mice (5). A possible way to isolate these

cells is through expression of cell surface markers that are associated with CSCs in some cancers (e.g. CD34⁺ CD38⁻ cells in AML or CD44⁺ CD24^{-low} in breast cancer) (5) (3). However none of these markers is truly specific and new approaches are required to isolate these cells reliably in different cancer types (7).

The CSC model has been contrasted with the stochastic model in which all tumor cells have the capacity to initiate tumor growth under appropriate conditions (8) but both models have limitations. Currently the tendency is to unify these two models in a single dynamic model in which the population of CSCs is continuously adapting due to the accumulation of genetic mutations and epigenetic modifications. At late stages of tumor progression cell hierarchy tends to disappear leading to a mass of cells most of which may display CSC characteristics (7).

The cancer stem cell model in Ewing sarcoma

Isolation of Ewing sarcoma CSC remains difficult because of the lack of specific markers. Nevertheless, it has been shown that tumor cells which express the surface marker CD133 can induce tumor growth *in vivo* and form spheres in low attachment culture conditions in contrast to CD133- cells (4). Thus, these cells seem to have CSC characteristics and maintain the capacity to differentiate into adipocytes, chondrocytes and osteocytes *in vitro* just like the mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs), which are their most likely cells of origin (9). Indeed it has been shown that MSCs undergo transformation after induction of EWS-FLI protein expression (10).

Epigenetics and Ewing sarcoma

A major mechanism responsible for tumor heterogeneity and CSC specification is epigenetic regulation of gene expression, which can promote cancer cell survival and thus provide them a growth advantage over other cells. It also constitutes one of the mechanisms that underlie cancer cell plasticity (11).

The term "epigenetics" was used to describe heritable changes in the cellular phenotype that were independent of alterations in the DNA sequence. Currently this term refers to DNA methylation, non-coding RNA expression and chromatin modifications that regulate DNA accessibility to transcription factors and repair complexes. Thus, epigenetics affects different fundamental DNA processes including transcription, repair and replication.

Chromatin conformation is determined by multiple mechanisms that include the constellation of histone modifications resulting in chromatin condensation (heterochromatin) or relaxation (euchromatin). Chromatin is a complex structure in which the DNA surrounds multiple histone octamers known as the nucleosomes. Pairs of histones H2A, H2B, H3 and H4 compose this structure which is encircled 1,5 times by DNA thus forming the primary chromatin structure. In the nucleus of a cell this structure is compacted and precisely organised allowing appropriate DNA processing (12). The different histones mentioned above can be modified by addition or removal of methyl and acetyl groups on their N-terminus. The resulting marks play a role in the chromatin accessibility and the binding of transcription factors which directly influence DNA transcription and the corresponding gene expression. The histone marks can be categorized according to their function (12) :

- Promoter activation marks (H34Kme2, H3K4me3, acetylation);
 Promoter repressive marks (H3K9me3, H3K27me3).
- Enhancer activation marks (H3K4me1, 2, H3K27ac, H2AZ); Enhancer repressive marks (H3K9me2, H3K9me3, DNAme).
- Gene body marks such as H3K36me3 which correlate with gene expression levels.

Epigenetic regulation participates in numerous key biological processes including cell differentiation during embryonal development and plays an important role in the pathogenesis of numerous diseases when it becomes disrupted.

Modifications of the epigenome have been observed in multiple cancer types. These epigenetic changes consist in differences of DNA methylation, histone marks and the non-coding RNA landscape (13). They arise early in transformation and participate in the regulation of different mechanisms on which tumor cells relies to promote growth and survival.

One key function of epigenetic modifications in cancer is to drive the specification and maintenance of CSCs. Thus, genes which play a role in differentiation, are silenced by specific histone repressive marks such as H3K27me³ or by hypermethylation of their promoters leading to the conservation of the stem cell state (14) whereas others that determine pluripotency are activated by loss of histone methylation marks and acquisition of acetylation marks.

Paediatric cancers, which often have an explosive evolution, are typically associated with few mutations and a relatively stable genome. Thus, their development seems to arise in the context of disruption of differentiation programs that are dependent on epigenetic regulation (15). An interesting observation in paediatric cancers is the presence of mutations on genes that affect epigenetic regulation such as methyltransferase, acetylase and histone demethylase coding genes (11).

Regarding Ewing Sarcoma, it has been shown that the EWS-FLI1 protein binds to promoters of genes that play a role in the epigenetic regulation such as the methyltransferase EZH2 of the polycomb group complex (16). The resulting epigenetic changes enhance the expression of several genes important for tumorigenesis.

Recent development of new technologies has allowed detailed analysis of epigenetic regulation of gene expression. The ChIP-seq technique (chromatin immunoprecipitation followed by sequencing) allows genome wide visualisation of the chromatin landscape of any cell type using antibodies that recognize specific chromatin marks. Thus, ChIP-seq allows detailed assessment of all the relevant chromatin modifications and thereby prediction of specific gene activity or repression. Promoters and enhancers bearing dual marks indicate genes that are poised for induction.

In this work, we first compared the epigenome of a CSCs population to that of the tumor bulk containing more differentiated cells using ChIP-seq.

Then, referring to the chromatin pattern showing active gene transcription, a set of genes specifically targeted by EWS-FLI1 in CSCs was selected from these data. We focused on one of these genes, *IMP2*, because it was shown to be important for CSC metabolism in glioblastoma (17).

Next, we confirmed Imp-2 overexpression in CSCs by qPCR and Western blot and finally we started investigations of the functional role of Imp-2 in the metabolism of Ewing sarcoma CSCs *in vitro* and *in vivo*.

Material and methods

Cell culture

Cells were obtained from 4 Ewing sarcoma family tumor (ESFT) samples removed by surgery as previously described (19): ESFT2, ESFT3, ESFT4 and ESFT5. Dead and immune cells were removed (CD45+, Milteny beads and columns) and remaining cells were sorted (Milteny beads and columns) for CD133 expression. Spheres were cultured in IMDM medium (Gibco) completed with 20% KO serum (Gibco), 10ng/mL LIF (Millipore), 10ng/mL recombinant human EGF (Invitrogen), 10ng/mL recombinant human bFGF (Invitrogen) and penicillin streptomycin 1% (PS) in ultra-low attachment flasks (Corning). Adherent cells were obtained from spheres by cultivating them in IMDM medium (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FCS (Gibco) and 1% PS.

Treatments of cells

ESFT4 cells were treated for 72h with 1μ M rotenone to inhibit OXPHOS or with 25mM oxamic acid to inhibit glycolysis in adherent and sphere conditions.

Imp-2 knockdown and retroviral infection

Short hairpin RNA sequence targeting Imp-2 was antisense strand (5' TTTCTATGGATATCTACCC3'). This sequence was inserted into PGIPZ vector according to the manufacturer's recommendations.

Imp-2 sh RNA or control plasmids were transfected into 293T cells to produce the virus used to infect ESFT5 spheres: Imp2-sh ESFT5 and Ctrl-ESFT5 respectively. Viral supernatant was concentred by ultracentrifugation using Optima XL-80K Ultracentrifuge (Beckman coulter) at 19'500 rpm during 90min at 4°. Concentrated virus was added to dissociated ESFT5 spheres. Cells were selected 72h later with puromycin (1/500) resistance during 5 days. The efficiency of Imp-2 depletion was verified by Western blot analysis.

RNA acquisition, real-time PCR and Western blot

Total RNA was obtained using miRCURY miRNA extraction kit (Exiqon) as recommended. Real time PCR was performed as previously described(20). TaqMan probe included 18S. Primer sequences for *IMP2* SYBR Green gene expression quantification were: forward 5'-AGCTAAGCGGGCATCAGTTTG-3'; reverse 5'-CCGCAGCGGGAAATCAATCT-3'.

Western Blot was performed according to standard procedures. Anti-Imp2 (1mg/mL; MBL, RN008P) antibody was used. Secondary antibody was HRP-conjugated goat antimouse (GE Healthcare). Imp2 was detected as a doublet.

ChIP-seq

ChIP-seq data for ESFT3 samples were obtained from previous studies of our group. Samples were fixed as follows: 10 mio cells were incubated for 10 minutes at 37° in medium containing 1%PFA, reaction was stopped by adding glycine, samples were then washed and snap frozen. Chromatin immunoprecipiation was performed by our collaborators (N. Riggi, G. Boulay and Miguel N Rivera) as follows: chromatin was fragmented to a size range of 200-700 bases with a Branson 250 sonicator and was immunoprecipitated with antibodies against H3K4me3 (Millipore), H3K27me3 (Millipore), H3K27ac (Abcam, Active Motif), H3K4me1 (Abcam), H3K36m3 (Abcam), H3K9ac (Abcam) and FLI1 (Santa Cruz, catalog no. sc-356). Antibody-chromatin complexes were then pulled down with protein G-Dynabeads (Life Technologies), washed, and then eluted. Crosslink reversal, RNase A, and proteinase K treatments were performed. Immunoprecipitated DNA was extracted with the Min-Elute PCR purification kit (QIAGEN). ChIP DNA was quantified with Qubit, and used to prepare sequencing libraries. ChIP DNA and input controls were then sequenced with the Hi-Seq Illumina genome analyzer. Obtained sequences were aligned to a reference genome HG19 using BVA. To visualise the ChIP-seq tracks we used IGV software.

Proliferation assay

Proliferation of Ctrl-ESFT5 and sh-Imp2 ESFT5 cells was assessed with Cell Proliferation ELISA BrdU colorimetric kit (Roche) according to the manufacturer's protocol. Proliferation was measured every 24 hours up to 72 hours. Quadriplicates were established to assess internal variability.

Mouse treatment and tumor measurement

Experimental protocols involving mice were approved by the Veterinary Service of the Canton of Vaud (Etat de Vaud, Service Vétérinaire), under authorization number VD2488. Two groups of NOD SCID gamma KO mice, four mice per group, were anesthetized and injected with 10000 sphere-derived Ctrl-ESFT5 or sh-Imp2 ESFT5 cells beneath the renal capsule and allowed to engraft for 49J. When control tumors reached 1 cm³, all mice were sacrificed. Injected kidneys were weighed and their size (short and long axis length) was measured.

Statistical analysis

All statistical analysis was performed using graphpad prism 6. *, P<0.05; **, P<0.01; ***, P<0.001; ****, P<0.0001.

Results

Chromatin associated with the Imp-2 gene shows a differential permissive transcription pattern with EWS-FLI1 binding sites and activating histone marks in ESFT CSCs that are absent in differentiated bulk tumor cells

We analysed ChIP-seq data from a fresh primary Ewing sarcoma sample (ESFT3), cells grown as tumorigenic spheres in serum-free conditions or cultured, in the presence of serum, as adherent differentiated non-tumorigenic cells. We compared the histone modification patterns between the three populations of cells and found significant differences in numerous gene coding and non-coding regions.

Following these observations, we focused on the *IMP2* gene (or *IGFBP2*, Insulin-like Growth Factor Binding Protein 2) because it displayed important differences in histone modifications between spheres and adherent cells and has been related to cancer stem cell metabolism in glioblastoma (17).

Figure 1 shows differential binding of the EWS-FLI1 transcription factor to the promoter of *IMP2*. The binding of the fusion protein is stronger in ESFT3 spheres than in the adherent counterpart cells. Interestingly, the activating H3K27ac mark is lower at the same locations on *IMP2* in adherent cells and present in spheres. Similar differences in H3K27ac are observed at a more distal location on the *IMP2* gene suggesting other active enhancers in spheres. As this mark is related to active enhancers, these are likely to be active in CSCs relative to bulk tumor cells.

Conversely, the polycomb repressive mark H3K27me3 seems to be more abundant in ESFT3 adherent cells than in the corresponding spheres. Finally, the H3K36me3 mark, which is directly correlated to the gene expression level, is more highly expressed in spheres than in adherent cells.

Taken together these results suggest differential regulation of *IMP2* by EWS-FLI1 between sphere CSCs, adherent and bulk tumor cells. *IMP2* displays all features of an actively transcribed gene in CSCs whereas it seems repressed in bulk tumor cells.



Figure 1: Differential binding of EWS-FLI1 in spheres, adherent and primary tumor on the *IMP2* gene (pink) and its consequences on chromatin modification (H3K36m3 blue, H3K27ac orange, H3K27me3 green).

Imp-2 is highly expressed in Ewing sarcoma CSCs

To confirm differential expression of Imp-2 in Ewing sarcoma spheres (CD133+) and adherent cells (CD133-), we performed real time PCR (RT-qPCR) on four different primary samples (ESFT2, ESFT3, ESFT4 and ESFT5). The results showed a strong upregulation of *IMP2* transcripts in CSCs compared to adherent cells in all samples except ESFT4 (Fig2-A).

We then performed a Western blot analysis on these samples in spheres and adherent cells to assess whether the Imp-2 protein expression followed the same trend. As expected, the levels of Imp-2 protein were more elevated in spheres than in adherent cells consistent with the results obtained by RT-qPCR (Fig2-B).

These observations confirm ChIP-seq data predictions regarding Imp-2 expression in ESFT3, and show the differential expression of Imp-2 in different primary ESFT samples.



Imp-2 plays a role in cell proliferation in Ewing sarcoma

In order to assess the impact on tumor growth of Imp-2 overexpression in Ewing sarcoma CSCs we performed knock down experiments using an shRNA for Imp-2 on ESFT3 and ESFT5 and monitored cell growth.

ESFT3 and ESFT5 sphere cells were infected with a lentivirus containing an Imp-2 or scrambled shRNA. Imp-2 knock down efficiency was assessed by Western blot analysis (Fig-3B). Unfortunately only ESFT5 cells were successfully infected (data not shown for other ESFTs).

We then used a BrdU proliferation assay and checked the 24h, 48h and 72 hours proliferation rate of both control and Imp-2-depleted cells.

After 48h the results showed a higher proliferation rate in control cells compared to sh-Imp-2 cells (Fig.3), consistent with the implication of Imp-2 in cell proliferation. Although the difference is still present at 72h it was not significant due to a high intra sample variability and cell confluence.



Depletion of Imp-2 impairs tumor growth in vivo

In order to assess a possible effect of Imp-2 depletion on tumor growth *in vivo* we performed a tumorigenicity assay using two groups of four mice each.

We injected sh-Imp2 or control ESFT5 cells in the subrenal capsule of immunocompromised (NOD-SCID cgKO) mice. After eight weeks, mice were sacrificed and kidneys with or without tumors were weighed.

Figure 4 shows that three mice had tumors in the control group whereas only one mouse had a macroscopically visible tumor in the Imp-2 depleted group. Unfortunately, due to the small number of mice the results were not statistically significant but a clear trend can be observed.

Taken together, these results show that at least in one primary ESFT sample Imp-2 depletion impaired *in vitro* and *in vivo* CSC growth and may impair *in vivo* tumor forming capacity of CSCs.





Figure 4-A: Macroscopic view of the four mouse kidneys injected with the ESFT5 sh-Imp2 and control cells.

B: Comparison between tumor and kidney weight of ESFT5 sh-Imp2 and control cells. Results were analysed by a student-t test.

А

Ewing sarcoma CSCs and bulk tumor cells might follow different metabolic pathways

There are many ways to influence cellular proliferation, one of them being the regulation of its glucose and protein metabolism.

It is now well established that cancer cells tend to use aerobic glycolysis (or Warburg effect) to metabolise glucose even in the presence of oxygen. Aerobic glycolysis produces only 2 molecules of ATP for 1 molecule of glucose, in contrast to the mitochondrial oxydative phosphorylation OXPHOS, which produces 36 molecules of ATP per molecule of glucose. One of the current explanations for this phenomenon is that aerobic glycolysis allows formation of more biomass for the proliferating cells than OXPHOS (18).

In glioblastoma, overexpression of *IMP2* was shown to enhance OXPHOS in CSCs. In contrast, differentiated adherent bulk tumor cells which show *IMP2* downregulation relied preferentially on glycolysis for energy production (17).

We therefore tried to analyse the metabolism of ESFT4 (as other cells were unavailable at that time) CSCs *versus* adherent bulk tumor cells. Cells were either plated as adherent monolayers in four plates or suspended as spheres in four flasks. We then added oxamic acid (25mM), which is a molecule that inhibits glycolysis by interfering with the lactate dehydrogenase, or rotenone (1 μ M), which inhibits OXPHOS by binding to the respiratory chain, or DMSO as a control. After five days, we observed differential morphological changes between these two populations of cells. Administration of oxamic acid to CSCs seems to only mildly affect sphere growth as, even if smaller, they are still present and proliferating, whereas with rotenone sphere formation is completely disrupted. Adherent cells, on the contrary, show a strong growth inhibition by oxamic acid whereas rotenone affects only the morphology of the cells but proliferation seems to be conserved (Fig.5).



Figure 5: representative pictures of ESFT4 cell cultures in adherent and sphere conditions after 72 hours treatment with oxamic acid or rotenone. DMSO was used as control.

These data suggest that Imp-2 could play the same role on the metabolic switch between OXPHOS and glycolysis in ESFT CSCs as in glioblastoma (17). Furthermore, Imp-2 could be implicated in the determination of the metabolic pathway used by cells. However, these data are very preliminary and warrants further investigations.

Discussion

A major challenge in cancer treatment resides in the targeting of specific mechanisms that underlie tumor initiation and progression. The discovery that development of multiple cancers depends on the survival of a specific sub-population of cells within the tumor provides new hope in the field of cancer research (21). Tumor heterogeneity and mechanisms of emergence of CSCs remain poorly understood and need to be investigated in order to develop new therapeutic strategies that selectively target defined cell subpopulations. Regarding Ewing sarcoma, studies revealed the existence of a subpopulation of cells that displays CSC properties (4) but the pathways that promote its emergence and survival remain to be fully understood. In our study, we used the ability of primary Ewing sarcoma CSCs to proliferate in low attachment serum free culture conditions and their expression of the surface marker CD133 to isolate them from the rest of the tumor bulk (4). Even if these two methods are not totally specific for CSC isolation, they represent a reliable way to obtain CSC enriched populations (22) (4).

Studying the epigenetic mechanisms that promote tumorigenesis has shown promising results in several cancers (13). The ChIP-seq technique allowed identification of a specific set of genes, which is essential for the propagation and treatment of glioblastoma (23). Understanding the epigenetic mechanisms underlying tumor formation is particularly crucial in paediatric cancers as these tumors show important dysregulation of gene expression programs with only few mutations (15). 60% of ESFT bear a single non-random translocation as the only mutation, highlighting the importance of epigenetic modifications in the genesis of ESFT, specifically in the generation of intratumor heterogeneity. Analysis of the epigenetic landscape of primary ESFT CSCs and differentiated bulk tumor cells using ChIP-seq techniques revealed significant differences in histone methylation and acetylation pointing towards differential gene expression profiles between spheres and adherent cells. Therefore correlation between histone code assessed by ChIP-seq and genes expression represents a powerful tool for the comprehension of carcinogenesis (14).

As ESFT CSCs and differentiated cells display very different phenotypes, despite the same genetic background, it is particularly interesting to assess how EWS-FLI1 binds and modulates gene expression in the two cell populations. The mechanism by which this is achieved, as well as the study of the genes specifically induced or repressed in one or the other cell population, may provide clues as the mechanism underlying CSCs generation and may lead to the discovery of new therapeutic targets. In this study, we chose to focus on a specific gene, IMP2, in order to first confirm that chromatin immunoprecipitation of histone modifications effectively correlates with and is able to efficiently predict gene expression. IMP2 has been shown to play a crucial role in glioblastoma CSC metabolism and CSC generation, we therefore wanted to assess whether those findings might be applied to ESFT CSCs. Analysis of the histone code in conjunction with EWS-FLI1 binding in ESFT3 allowed us to identify a gene, which is differentially expressed between non-tumorigenic differentiated cells and CSC. Interestingly, this differential expression at the mRNA and protein levels is also observed in two other ESFT samples. However, ChIP-seq analysis remains to be done in ESFT2 and ESFT5 and other ESFT samples in order to ensure the reproducibility of our results.

As Imp-2 was shown to be crucial for CSC proliferation in glioblastoma we wanted to assess the effect of Imp-2 on the proliferation of our ESFT CSCs enriched cell populations.

IMP2 is expressed during development in different organs including gonads, small intestine and bone marrow. Its related protein is believed to play role in organogenesis and it participates to RNA regulation. Interestingly, Imp-2 has been related to multiple malignancies like breast cancer (24) and hepatocellular carcinoma (25). In glioblastoma, Imp-2 showed to promote CSC proliferation by supporting the main mechanism of energy production in gliomaspheres: OXPHOS (17).

Proliferation assays on Imp-2 depleted ESFT5 cells revealed that Imp-2 promotes CSC proliferation. *In vitro,* the difference of cell proliferation between Ctrl-ESFT5 cells and sh-Imp2 ESFT5 cells was significant at 48h. However at 72 hours, high proliferation rate and high cell numbers in both cell populations (confluent cells) reduced the specificity and account for the large variability of these results.

As *in vitro* proliferation results are not always reflective of *in vivo* cellular behaviour, we injected these cells into immunocompromised mice. Interestingly, *in vivo*, three mice developed grossly visible tumors after xenotransplantation of Ctrl-ESFT5 cells, whereas only one mouse injected with sh-Imp2 ESFT5 showed a visible tumor. These promising findings have to be confirmed in other ESFT samples and other *in vivo* experiments including more mice. Nevertheless, these results seem to highlight the importance of Imp-2 in tumor formation capacity of ESFT CSCs.

Numerous studies focusing on cancer metabolism showed that malignant cells preferentially use glycolysis as main energy source in order to produce enough metabolites for biomass formation. This mechanism is called the Warburg effect (18). However recent studies revealed that certain CSCs such as epithelial ovarian CSCs (26) or glioblastoma CSCs (17), preferentially use the OXPHOS pathway to metabolise glucose. To get a hint of a possible mechanism explaining the proliferative advantage of cells with high expression of Imp-2, we assessed whether Ewing sarcoma CSCs showed the same trend. Therefore, we added an inhibitor of the complex 1of the mitochondrial respiratory chain in our ESFT4 spheres and adherent cultures. The same was done with oxamic acid, an inhibitor of lactate dehydrogenase, in order to impair glycolysis. Interestingly, microscopic analysis revealed a diminution of cell numbers in sphere cultures with rotenone but no effect in the presence of oxamic acid. The opposite effect was observed in adherent culture conditions suggesting a differential glucose metabolism in these two cell populations with a preference of spheres for the OXPHOS pathway. Even if other experiments are needed in order to give more details on oxygen consumption or lactate production to confirm our results, this observation revealed an interesting feature of ESFT CSCs metabolism that appears to recapitulate observations in glioblastoma cells (17). Considering the positive impact of Imp-2 on OXPHOS in gliomaspheres and its impact on in vitro and in vivo ESFT tumor growth, its effect on ESFT CSCs metabolism should be investigated.

Although this study remains to be completed with other mechanistic experiments, it proposes a new way to investigate Ewing sarcoma CSCs gene expression in order to understand crucial mechanisms of CSCs generation and survival. Analysing epigenetic changes between CSCs and bulk tumor cells revealed differential EWS-FLI1 mediated regulation mechanism of a specific gene, *IMP2*. Differential expression between CSCs and bulk tumor cells was then confirmed in several other primary ESFT samples and seems to have a functional *in vivo* impact as downregulation eradicated the tumor forming capacity of these cells. The elucidation of the CSC regulating pathways might provide new approaches to specifically target tumor-initiating cells.

References

- 1. Arvand A, Denny CT. Biology of EWS/ETS fusions in Ewing's family tumors. Oncogene [Internet]. 2001 Sep 10 [cited 2015 Oct 14];20(40):5747–54. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/11607824
- 2. Bailly RA, Bosselut R, Zucman J, Cormier F, Delattre O, Roussel M, et al. DNAbinding and transcriptional activation properties of the EWS-FLI-1 fusion protein resulting from the t(11;22) translocation in Ewing sarcoma. Mol Cell Biol [Internet]. 1994 May [cited 2015 Oct 14];14(5):3230–41. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=358690&tool=pmce ntrez&rendertype=abstract
- 3. Magee J a., Piskounova E, Morrison SJ. Cancer Stem Cells: Impact, Heterogeneity, and Uncertainty. Cancer Cell [Internet]. Elsevier Inc.; 2012;21(3):283–96. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2012.03.003
- 4. Suvà M-L, Riggi N, Stehle J-C, Baumer K, Tercier S, Joseph J-M, et al. Identification of cancer stem cells in Ewing's sarcoma. Cancer Res [Internet]. 2009 Mar 1 [cited 2014 Aug 12];69(5):1776–81. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19208848
- Valent P, Bonnet D, De Maria R, Lapidot T, Copland M, Melo JV, et al. Cancer stem cell definitions and terminology: the devil is in the details. Nat Publ Gr [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2012;12(11):767–75. Available from: http://eprints.gla.ac.uk/73627/
- 6. Colak S, Medema JP. Cancer stem cells--important players in tumor therapy resistance. FEBS J [Internet]. 2014 Nov [cited 2015 Aug 20];281(21):4779–91. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25158828
- Kreso A, Dick JE. Evolution of the cancer stem cell model. Cell Stem Cell [Internet]. Elsevier Inc.; 2014 Mar 6 [cited 2014 Jul 9];14(3):275–91. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24607403
- 8. Nguyen L V., Vanner R, Dirks P, Eaves CJ. Cancer stem cells: an evolving concept. Nat Rev Cancer. 2012;12(February):133–43.
- 9. Riggi N, Suvà M-L, Suvà D, Cironi L, Provero P, Tercier S, et al. EWS-FLI-1 expression triggers a Ewing's sarcoma initiation program in primary human

mesenchymal stem cells. Cancer Res [Internet]. 2008 Apr 1 [cited 2014 Sep 18];68(7):2176–85. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18381423

- Riggi N, Suva M-L, Stamenkovic I. Ewing's sarcoma origin: from duel to duality. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther [Internet]. 2009 Aug [cited 2014 Sep 2];9(8):1025– 30. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19671021
- 11. Timp W, Feinberg AP. at the expense of the host. Nature Publishing Group; 2013;13(July):497–510. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nrc3486
- 12. Zhou VW, Goren A, Bernstein BE. Charting histone modifications and the functional organization of mammalian genomes. Nat Rev Genet [Internet]. Nature Publishing Group; 2011 Jan [cited 2014 Jul 14];12(1):7–18. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21116306
- 13. Dawson MA, Kouzarides T. Cancer epigenetics: from mechanism to therapy. Cell [Internet]. 2012 Jul 6 [cited 2014 Jul 11];150(1):12–27. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22770212
- Easwaran H, Tsai H-C, Baylin SB. Cancer Epigenetics: Tumor Heterogeneity, Plasticity of Stem-like States, and Drug Resistance. Mol Cell [Internet]. 2014 Jun 5 [cited 2014 Jul 10];54(5):716–27. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24905005
- Lawlor ER, Thiele CJ. Epigenetic changes in pediatric solid tumors: promising new targets. Clin Cancer Res [Internet]. 2012 May 15 [cited 2014 Oct 2];18(10):2768–79. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3691809&tool=pmc entrez&rendertype=abstract
- Burdach S, Plehm S, Unland R, Dirksen U, Borkhardt A, Staege MS, et al. Epigenetic maintenance of stemness and malignancy in peripheral neuroectodermal tumors by EZH2. Cell Cycle [Internet]. 2009 Jul 1 [cited 2014 Oct 3];8(13):1991–6. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/19502792
- 17. Janiszewska M, Suvà ML, Riggi N, Houtkooper RH, Auwerx J, Clément-Schatlo V, et al. Imp2 controls oxidative phosphorylation and is crucial for preserving glioblastoma cancer stem cells. Genes Dev [Internet]. 2012 Sep 1 [cited 2014 Sep 2];26(17):1926–44. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=3435496&tool=pmc entrez&rendertype=abstract

- 18. Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Science [Internet]. 2009 May 22 [cited 2014 Jul 11];324(5930):1029–33. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2849637&tool=pmc entrez&rendertype=abstract
- 19. Cornaz-Buros S, Riggi N, DeVito C, Sarre A, Letovanec I, Provero P, et al. Targeting cancer stem-like cells as an approach to defeating cellular heterogeneity in Ewing sarcoma. Cancer Res [Internet]. 2014 Nov 15 [cited 2015 May 20];74(22):6610–22. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25261238
- De Vito C, Riggi N, Cornaz S, Suvà M-L, Baumer K, Provero P, et al. A TARBP2dependent miRNA expression profile underlies cancer stem cell properties and provides candidate therapeutic reagents in Ewing sarcoma. Cancer Cell [Internet]. 2012 Jun 12 [cited 2015 Aug 13];21(6):807–21. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1535610812001651
- 21. Visvader JE, Lindeman GJ. Cancer stem cells in solid tumors: accumulating evidence and unresolved questions. Nat Rev Cancer [Internet]. 2008 Oct [cited 2014 Jul 10];8(10):755–68. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18784658
- 22. Riggi N, Suva ML, De Vito C, Provero P, Stehle JC, Baumer K, et al. EWS-FLI-1 modulates miRNA145 and SOX2 expression to initiate mesenchymal stem cell reprogramming toward Ewing sarcoma cancer stem cells. Genes Dev [Internet]. 2010 Apr 9 [cited 2015 Oct 7];24(9):916–32. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=2861191&tool=pmc entrez&rendertype=abstract
- 23. Suvà ML, Rheinbay E, Gillespie SM, Patel AP, Wakimoto H, Rabkin SD, et al. Reconstructing and reprogramming the tumor-propagating potential of glioblastoma stem-like cells. Cell. 2014;157(3):580–94.
- 24. Barghash A, Helms V, Kessler SM. Overexpression of IGF2 mRNA-Binding Protein 2 (IMP2/p62) as a Feature of Basal-like Breast Cancer Correlates with Short Survival. Scand J Immunol [Internet]. 2015 Aug 3 [cited 2015 Oct 7];82(2):142–3. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/25916626
- Kessler SM, Laggai S, Barghash A, Schultheiss CS, Lederer E, Artl M, et al. IMP2/p62 induces genomic instability and an aggressive hepatocellular carcinoma phenotype. Cell Death Dis [Internet]. 2015 Jan [cited 2015 Oct 7];6:e1894. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/26426686

26. Pastò A, Bellio C, Pilotto G, Ciminale V, Silic-Benussi M, Guzzo G, et al. Cancer stem cells from epithelial ovarian cancer patients privilege oxidative phosphorylation, and resist glucose deprivation. Oncotarget [Internet]. 2014 Jun 30 [cited 2015 Oct 8];5(12):4305–19. Available from: http://www.pubmedcentral.nih.gov/articlerender.fcgi?artid=4147325&tool=pmc entrez&rendertype=abstract